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Monday, May 12, 2014
--- On commencing at 9:36 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.


The Board sits today on the matter of an application by Hydro One Networks Incorporated filed with the Ontario Energy Board on December 19th, 2013 under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.


Hydro One Networks is seeking approval for changes to the rates that it charges for electricity distribution to be effective January 1st, 2015 and each year thereafter, up to December 13th, 2019.


Hydro One is applying through a custom application for a full review of its distribution rates over each of the five years.  The Board has assigned the application file number EB-2013-0416.


The Board issued a notice of application and hearing dated January 24th, 2014.  Hydro One supplemented its application with additional material filed January 31st, 2014.


On February 18th Hydro One filed a letter with the Board Indicating that it intends to file a further update to its evidence to reflect 2013 year-end actual results, their impact on in-service additions, and other adjustments prompted by the long-term energy-plan direction.


In this letter Hydro One suggested that a series of technical-conference sessions should be convened, each focusing on a specific aspect of the evidence.


Hydro One also indicated that it could provide an overview of its application to the Board panel and make senior executive team available to the Board and parties to answer clarifying questions.


On March 14th, 2014 the Board issued Procedural order No. 1, in which the Board set the dates for three technical conferences and a presentation and issues day for this proceeding.  The three technical conferences were held April 10th, April 23rd, and April 30th, and the transcript are available on the Board's website.


In procedural -- in the procedural order the Board also set today's date for the presentation from Hydro One senior executives and the hearing of submissions on the issues list for the proceeding.


As indicated in the procedural order, this presentation will be transcribed by the Hydro One presenters and will not be sworn or affirmed, nor will cross-examination be invited.


Intervenors and Board Staff may ask clarifying questions to the Hydro One presenters, if necessary, to ensure a full understanding of the presentation.


The draft issues list originally filed as Exhibit A, tab 24, Schedule 1 has been amended by Hydro One and was filed and distributed on May 7th, 2014.


After the presentation today the Board will hear oral submissions from Hydro One, Board Staff, and intervenors on the amended draft issues list.


That brings us up-to-date.  I will now take appearances, and then we will determine if there are any preliminary matters to deal with before we hear from Hydro One representatives.


Appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, Good morning, Mr. Quesnelle.  My name is Donald Rogers, members of the Board.  With me is Mr. Al Cowan, who is director of major applications, and I am counsel to the applicant in this case.


I thought what I would do is introduce the witnesses once all appearances have been taken, if that is satisfactory, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It is, thank you, Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I represent the School Energy Coalition.  I want to put in an appearance as well for my colleague, Mark Rubenstein, who will be here most of the time.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


MS. LEA:  My name is Jennifer Lea.  I appear as counsel for Board Staff, and with me are members of Board Staff today, Ceiran Bishop, Harold Thiessen, Leila Azaiez, and Lisa Brickenden.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.


MR. POCH:  Good morning, panel.  David Poch on behalf of the Green Energy Coalition.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. Poch.


MS. GRICE:  Shelley Grice on behalf of AMPCO.


MR. GARNER:  Good morning, Mark Garner on behalf of VECC.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Garner.


DR. HIGGIN:  Roger Higgin, Energy Probe, with David MacIntosh and...


MR. YOUCH:  Brady Youch, Energy Probe.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning.  Richard Stephenson.  I'm counsel for the Power Workers' Union.  With me is my consultant, Alfredo Bertolotti.


MS. POWER:  Good morning.  Vicki Power with the Society of Energy Professionals.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. COPES:  Good morning.  Nicholas Copes of Balsam Lake Coalition.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I think your microphone may not have been on, sir, sorry.


MR. COPES:  Nicholas Copes of Balsam Lake Coalition.


MR. CHESHIRE:  And Bill Cheshire of Balsam Lake Coalition.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, gentlemen.


MR. RICHMOND:  David Richmond, Board Staff.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Okay.


MR. KOVACEVIC:  Mike Kovacevic, City of Hamilton.  Robert Warren is our counsel in the next room.  If needs be he will be available.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Right.  Thank you very much.


Okay.  I think that is everyone.


MR. DeROSE:  On the phone.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. DeRose?


MR. DeROSE:  Good morning, panel.  Vince DeRose on behalf of CME.  I also have Emma Blanchard, who is an associate with us, who will be assisting and will be taking the lead on a number of the anticipated witness panels.


And if I can just say, again, thank you for accommodating us via teleconference for today's, what we anticipate as a relatively brief proceeding.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Yeah, I was anticipating your presence, Mr. DeRose, and I just wasn't sure if you were on the line yet, so welcome, thank you.


Okay.  Ms. Lea, any other preliminary matters that we should consider before we start?


MS. LEA:  I am not aware of any other preliminary matters.  Thank you, no.  I would ask Mr. Rogers to go ahead.


MR. QUESNELLE:  No?  Okay.  Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, sir.  Let me introduce the panel, if I might.  We'll just start from your left and move to the right.  First we have Ms. Laura -- it's on, but I must be fading in my old age.  The light's on.  No?  Can you hear me now?  I will start over again, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1

Laura Cooke


Mike Winters


Sandy Struthers

Wayne Smith

MR. ROGERS:  We will move -- I will introduce the panel starting from your left to the right.  First we have Ms. Laura Cooke, who is vice-president, corporate relations with Hydro One.  Next to Ms. Cooke is Mr. Mike Winters, who is the senior vice-president, engineering and construction. In the middle of the panel is Mr. Sandy Struthers, chief administration and chief financial officer of the applicant.  And to your far right of the panel we have Mr. Wayne Smith, who is senior vice-president of operations.


And the panel does have a slide presentation to make to outline the case, sir, and before beginning on that, can I ask Ms. Lea to give us an exhibit number?


MS. LEA:  Yes.  Thank you.  Because this is a presentation and issues day I think we will distinguish the exhibit number from the rest of the hearing and call this Exhibit PD1, please, and that's letter P, letter D, 1.
EXHIBIT NO. PD1:  SLIDE PRESENTATION.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.


Mr. Struthers, I believe you are going to lead off, are you, this morning?
Presentation by Mr. Struthers:

MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.


So first of all I would like to thank the panel for allowing us to make this presentation to them.  This is the fourth presentation the company has made.  The first three were in technical conferences.


We are -- as a company have definitely benefited from those discussions and from the input of the intervenor community and also from Board Staff.  So we will be filing a series of blue-page updates that have resulted from those discussions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I just have -- we have it on the screen, sir.  Are there hard copies available?


[Ms. Lea passes out hard copies of the presentation]

MR. QUESNELLE:  It is just easier to make notes as we go, if that is okay.  Great.  Thank you very much.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  Does each member have a copy now, a hard copy?


MR. QUESNELLE:  We do, yes, thank you.


MR. STRUTHERS:  So in front of you is the proposed agenda for this morning's presentation, which will be addressed by myself and my colleagues, and these items include an overview of the strategic direction and value proposition as agreed to by our board of directors, a discussion of the voice of the customer, the challenges and the resultant distribution investment plan, highlights of the application, an overview of the proposed outcome measures, and update of the customer-service recovery process and how we intend to implement the custom application process.


So let me talk about the company's strategic direction.  The company, with its new president, spent considerable time last year, being April 2013, with its Board to develop and expand on the strategic direction to 2020, and in doing so we developed with our board the concept that as a company we would provide safe, reliable, and affordable service to our customers today and also tomorrow.


We reaffirmed that we would operate as a commercially driven business and that we would develop a customer-focused culture with reliability, affordability, and services being our drivers.


A number of our board members have questioned what we mean by affordable, particularly as our customers increasingly find rates to be a concern, particularly with rising energy costs.


And affordability to us is driving to keep our costs down using third parties to provide as many services as we can through competitive RFP processes, reducing our full-time head count, and using less expensive resources, moving more of our work force to direct, which is the wrench-turning positions, and away from -- and to the extent possible, reducing indirect work through the use of technologies and investments that we have made, and also through a better work focus.

We recognize our customers want us to control our costs, but they also still want us to provide safe, reliability service to them.  And in some cases our customers have clearly indicated to us that they are not happy with our reliability.


Moving on to the next slide, to develop the value proposition we looked at the components that make up safe, reliable and affordable service.


We concluded we needed to keep our portion, the transmission and distribution rate increases, at or less than inflation, recognizing that the main costs, which are increasing the rates related to the capital being in-serviced, higher depreciation expense from increased rate base, and the possibility over the next five years of increased interest rates.


We recognize that if rates were to increase, we needed to improve customer satisfaction with our performance, and also building trust with our customers, a challenge that we have arguably made more difficult for ourselves, particularly with our billing issues.


We also needed to preserve net income.  And as an entity we are independent of the government of Ontario; our debt is not backstopped by the government of Ontario.


Investments in our capital program and the repayment of debt as it comes due means that we must go to the debt markets for financing.  Annually, we finance between $1 billion and $1.5 billion on the open markets.  And behind the banks, BCE and Enbridge, we are the next largest borrower in Canada.


A stable, fair and predictable regulatory environment and ability to earn our rate of return and the ability to preserve net income are needed to ensure our credit ratings.


To that extent, we continue to be under-leveraged, not at the 60 percent debt level but at a 55 percent debt level at the borrowing entity.  We intend to keep an A credit rating, as it reduces the cost of our debt to our customers, and our shareholder continues to fund our expansion and equity capital needs by allowing us to retain dividends in the company.


To ensure that we are spending money in the right areas, we have made investments to provide us with full visibility to our assets, their condition and our work programs.


Tools such as asset analytics are allowing us to make targeted investments to minimize the impact of costs to customers and provide us with an effective way to manage programs and investments.  We have targeted improving operating efficiencies and cost savings.  And our retirement profile will allow us to replace only the positions that we need, and to focus on moving more of our workforce to the program delivery side of our business.


We continue to RFP work programs, to RFP our back office support, to RFP facilities management, and to the extent that we can within the restrictions of our labour contracts.


Our objective is to reduce our full-time headcount and to make greater use of the Hiring Hall and contract labour in obtaining cost efficiencies.


If I can allow Ms. Cooke to speak, please.


MS. COOKE:  Thank you.  Good morning.


Continuous improvement in the area of customer experience has increasingly become more of a business discipline at Hydro One, and it also underpins a culture change effort that is underway within the company.


And understanding customer satisfaction is a key element of that customer experience discipline.  Our customers' opinions count.


And for this reason, we've had for many, many years a very, very robust corporate research effort underway, particularly in the area of customer satisfaction.  Our research efforts include transactional surveys, perception surveys, and obviously focus groups, so we can meet directly with our customers and have a discussion and probe more deeply the issues that are of concern to them.


At the core of this research is our desire to understand customers' perceptions and the specific drivers to their satisfaction.


It is also critical in the development of customer policies, setting customer service goals for the company, developing products, but also eliminating customer irritants and identifying customer service opportunities.


If you look at this slide in front of you right now, you will see that right now our customer satisfaction stands at approximately 80 percent; this is up only slightly.  We have not seen a precipitous movement since 2012 when it was 78 percent.  It is upward movement, but not statistically important by most standards.


But then if we look at the dissatisfied portion of our customer base, it is either dissatisfied or neutral, and if customers are viewed as neutral or dissatisfied we put them in the dissatisfied category.  That stands at 20 percent right now.


More importantly, it is critical that we understand the drivers to satisfaction, and on the right-hand part of the slide, you can see those drivers.


The two critical drivers that we're looking at right now, rates and price, in 2013 is seen to be 56 percent driver; that is a big number.


Also critically important to customers is reliability.


I note that from 2012 to 2013, the issue of reliability has increased substantially, whereas rates and price has gone down somewhat.


Again, both important figures to note.


I would move to the next slide now.


In consideration of this custom application, certainly one of the key elements we wanted to look at was customer focus, and our research efforts underpin that process.


There is two issues that have influenced our -- what we call a customer satisfaction booster study.  One is the Renewed Regulatory Framework, and the second is also discussions that we've been having on an ongoing basis with Hydro One's board of directors about reliability specifically.


So in the October/November time frame of this year, we conducted this booster study.  We used a traditional sample size; that is about 2,500 Hydro One customers in various rate classes.


Approximately 83 percent of the people that we spoke to as a course of this study said that they were satisfied with reliability based on the rates that they were paying.  When we probe the -- their perceptions more deeply, we do understand that customers are not as warm to the notion of increases, but they would welcome a discussion about the need for investments and the value of the investments being made.


Geographic location of customers and their income had little bearing, when we look at where these results sit.  So the 83 percent satisfied is pretty consistent across the province.


We do see, though, that urban customers tend to be more satisfied than our rural customers when it comes to reliability and the price they pay for a certain degree of reliability.


Customers who use lower amounts of electricity are more likely to be satisfied.


Customers are telling us that the improvements that we're making should already be part of service, but again, we see that as an opportunity if we look at driver analysis, an opportunity to have a -- more of a discussion with our customers about the value that they receive in return for rates.  It is also an opportunity to have a discussion about electricity literacy and about fairness of pricing.  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  I would ask the witnesses to just slow down a little bit.  The reporter has to take all of this down and it is difficult.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I was going to introduce Mr. Wayne Smith.


MR. SMITH:  Addressing our key challenges, the investment plan reflects the investments required to safely maintain our customer service, and that includes Q4 reliability.  We presently have reliability in Q4 and our investment plan doesn't take it out of Q4.  It stays in that zone.


A rigorous analytical process is employed, factoring in the value to our customer, safety, the environment, industry standards and practices, and cost.


We continually find more effective ways to complete the work at lower costs, or safer, or to better meet our customer needs.  And all aspects tie into productivity and drive safer or more productive.


We also include a resource strategy in our investment plan, how will we resource it and how will we resource it efficiently.


The cost over the life of the assets is also considered and it is balanced against the spending in the year, and across most of our investments that balance is always a trade-off between the longer-term lifecycle costs and the shorter-term investments in our plan.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am going to talk about some of the financial results and business profile.


So critical for the business and for its investments in the capital program, and also as my role is the chief financial officer of an SEC-registered, New York Stock Exchange-listed company, and that is debt listing, which is being followed by the three major credit rating agencies in North America, and also which is included in most -- or whose data is included in most income funds is ensuring that the company has a stable financial performance and also a stable business profile.


In DBRS's report -- DBRS is one of the credit analysts that follows our company -- in their report on the company on April 10th, 2014, DBRS stated that it viewed the customer incentive rate-setting option under the Renewed Regulatory Framework as modestly positive for Hydro One, as it provides greater clarity with respect to our company's ability to recover high capital costs, a much less onerous operating efficiency target.  And I am not sure I agree with that statement.  However, it is their perception of their review of the OEB's December 2013 release of its final report.  And the ability for companies to reopen regulatory rate cases should unexpected operating costs occur before the end of the regulatory term.


It also viewed the increases in the return on equity as modestly positive for the company and for its credit rating, and hopeful that they are correct as we manage an increasing borrowing program which currently stands at $9.2 billion and as we continue to invest in sustaining capital for our customers.


Maintaining effortful coverage ratios, constraining dividends, and maintaining a higher equity structure than allowed are all necessary to provide the cost-effective borrowing that we provide to our customers.

Mr. Smith?

Presentation by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Hello.  Ms. Cooke discussed how we survey our customers and determine what they value.  We also interact with our customers and through these interactions we understand specific concerns of individual customers.


Our largest customers have account execs in our field managers, and our field managers that run -- that operate the crews in the field also have a dual duty of being account execs for larger customers.


It is through these interactions with customers that we understand specific concerns of customers related to reliability, and that can include areas from interruptions to power quality and how that affects their service and how that affects what they need from us, in terms of reliability.


Our analytical tools provide a comprehensive and accurate assessment of our assets.  This is a recent improvement and adds efficiencies to our planning process and also better identifies where we can spend wisely and where we can wisely not spend.


Much of the data on our assets comes from the people completing the work via the reporting.


The crews in the field also have the best understanding of what it takes to complete work, opportunities for work efficiencies, and local challenges like working on bedrock, working in swamps, or working on the property of a seasonal customer.


We don't just rely on the data to optimize the plan.  The planners discuss the plans with the -- and the options in the plans with the managers accountable to complete the work.


Through this dialogue we verify the integrity of the plan, and additional opportunities for innovation are identified working between the head-office people and the field managers.


With all investments we know where and how we provide value.  This includes exploring better ways to invest and better ways to complete the investments.


Innovations by manufacturers of the assets we install and innovations on how we undertake the work are continuously explored and reflected in the investment plan.  These can lower the costs, but they can also improve safety and meet other customer needs.


The large amount of distributed generation, for example, created operating and maintenance requirements that need to be met safely and with as little impact as possible on the cost to the customer.


The investment plan must be achievable, and in a very efficient fashion.


Work often requires equipment outages, which must be coordinated with our load customers and increasingly with distributed generation.  Our investment plan also drives our procurement of materials and of contracted services.


Our work force is flexible.  In addition to ensuring they can complete the work, we also want to make sure they are completing the work as efficiently as possible.  Again, the planners work with the field managers to optimize the execution of the plan.


We set up the plan.  The field -- or, excuse me, we set up the plan.  The field managers have the opportunity and the flexibility to optimize that work within the year.


In this fashion, reducing costs related to mobilization of work, travel time, and how crews are located can be maximized to the benefit of the customer and also to drive costs down.


This is critical, given our large territory.  Also, storms can often disrupt our best of plans, and you must be able to get back under your planned work program as efficiently as possible.


Our plans are reviewed in detail through a process of a series of meetings.  This includes a detailed review by the three of us up here, or four of us up here, and a full-day workshop that both Sandy, Mike, and myself attend and basically grill and quiz the planners to make sure the value is there in the investment plan.


These reviews also identify and prioritize opportunities for continuous improvement and establish commitments from our staff for these improvements.


We also identify where past investments can continue to be leveraged or leveraged better to drive more efficiency and drive better service.


Thanks.


I do want to take a few minutes and highlight a couple of areas of investment.  These are larger areas of investment, one being O&M and the second one being capital.


The first investment I will highlight is vegetation management.  Our strategy around vegetation management is driven by cost, life-cycle cost.  We are currently running at about a nine-and-a-half-year average cycle, and we know from our experience in the parts of the province where we've got the cycle down to a six- to eight-year range that the cost of -- the life-cycle cost of managing vegetation comes down considerably.


Our goal is to get to an eight-year cycle on average across the province over the terms of this rate -- of these five years we have in the rate filing.


To do this we have to ramp up the funding of the forestry program, the vegetation management program, both in areas of brush control and tree-trimming.


Through this we will, coming out the end, by 2019 see a substantial decrease in unit costs, and we will see the overall cost to the work program come down to a level that is recurring cost efficiencies that are sustainable for the long run.


Over this period, in addition to the efficiencies that are coming from getting to a more efficient cycle, we are also driving efficiencies in the way we do our work.


We are looking at more mechanical control of brush, selected use of herbicides.  We also are using more extensively feller brush bunchers, which are a machine that can go in, cut a tree, and move a tree far more labour-efficiently, and it drives down our labour involvement, it drives down the efficiency with which we can clear trees, and it also implies a safety benefit, and that there's less safety risk for the worker.


We also have recently at the end of last year come to a four-year agreement with our union that does the -- the PWU, that does the -- most of the vegetation management in terms of brush control and tree clearing.


This agreement sets the base amount of regular employees over the four-year period and allows us to do the ramp-up in work using a more cost-effective hiring hall.


So part of the reason we have actually structured this the way we have was for the labour efficiency and to sit down with the union and achieve that labour efficiency over, in this case, the next four years.


Can we go to the next slide?


The wood-pole program is a program that is very much a long-term program, where we have an aging fleet of assets that we need to basically have a sustainable plan to replace those assets in a way that does not push a cost off into the future years that is not achievable.


So we really want to start ramping up the program which we started this past year to a level that minimally meets the long-term needs of the aging asset base.


Driving this program is the intelligence we have in programs like asset analytics, a portion-by-portion analysis of the province, knowing the age of our fleet of wood poles, knowing where the risk is, and knowing where we want to focus on getting those poles replaced.


We also look over the period of the plan of doing it efficiently.  So we want to basically plan an investment strategy that uses the work force as efficiently as possible and does it at the lowest cost we can achieve.


To that regard, though, we still have a lot of difficult poles to replace, poles that are in the Canadian Shield, poles that are necessarily higher because they have more lines on them, and we are focusing on a lot of the more difficult poles over this planning period as well.


Our goal is to basically, from a strategic point of view, have a sustainable pole-replacement program that in the future out five, ten, 15 years we do not -- or we're not hit with an abundance or a backlog of poles that would drive up the rates unrealistically at that point in time.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Thank you.  So this slide provides you with our forecast financial highlights as shown.  The comparators shown in the slide is 2011, the last time that we appeared in front of the Ontario Energy Board.


But I want to make it clear that even though we've had OM&A in 2011 of $535 million, that in 2013 our OM&A total comes to $598 million.


During the period of our IRM we have continued to invest both in programs and also in capital.  Our capital program increases in 2015, for example, to the same level that we achieved in 2013, but with an emphasis on sustaining capital investments and also an emphasis in reduction of common corporate costs.


Depreciation costs since 2011 are some, now, $70 million, 25 percent higher, reflecting the addition during the period, the IRM period of almost $1.5 billion of capital investments.


Productivity savings that we have identified comprise primarily back office cost reductions with respect to the re-tendering of our energy outsourcing contract, savings from business transformation through our Cornerstone-supported applications such as asset analytics, business planning consolidation and also CIS value realization, which includes working with our customers with respect to bad debts.


We have also made investments previously in business systems that continue to provide value to us, and those relate to investments we made in the HR systems, finance systems, supply chain, and also work management systems.


The revenue requirement you see is initially driven by the higher OM&A that Wayne just referred to, and also the return on capital that reflects our investments.


OM&A flattens over the next five years.  The increases are primarily driven by taxes, return on capital, and depreciation.


The slide I am showing you reflects the distribution rate increases that are being proposed.

In 2012, we did not apply for any rate increase.


In 2013, our rate increases reflected the annual rate increase mechanism plus a smart grid rider, which resulted in a 1.4 percent increase.


In 2014, the annual rate increase with a rate rider of 1.5 percent was a -- for smart grid totalled, again, 2.6 percent.  In that period of time, Hydro One invested close it to $1.5 billion in rate base.


And in 2015, the rate base now stands almost at $6.5 billion, reflecting also the ongoing annual capital investments of some $630 million per year.


2015 represents the rate base increase.  The red portion of that graph represents recovery on rate base already invested.


2015 also shows that smart grid and smart meter riders, which are the bottom of the graph, and the OM&A costs associated are now reinvested within the OM&A program and also within the rate base itself.


The OEB requested rate classification study in 2015 add 1.8 percent to annual rates.


If we had filed a fourth-generation IRM application, the 2015 year would be the reset year again, and would be our first rate base reset since our last IRM -- or since our last IRM or through the IRM period, so back to 2011.


Our request for 2015 would be the same, whether we were asking for a fourth-generation IRM application or a five-year custom application.


What we are proposing with a five-year rate filing is the ability to smooth the rate increases.  And this is beneficial to our customers.


We recognize the impact that a significant increase has on our customers and we want to make it more affordable for them.  This allows our customers an annual increase that is stepped, rather than one large increase in 2015 followed by smaller changes from 2017 to 2019.


The rate smoothing would see Hydro One under-recover in 2015 and 2016, but over-recover in 2017, 2018 and 2019.  And in essence, we would front-end the costs of our cost of capital investments, which then is lower than the cost -- which is then lower than the costs that our customers would bear as a cost of capital.


Our intent is also to live with a five-year forecast based upon items that are within the control of the company.  For those items, we would not come back for any annual changes.


A five-year application allows us to engineer a result which benefits our customers and would not be available with other formats that are contemplated.


I would like to remind the Panel that the item which is really driving the increase is the increase in the rate base for monies that have already been spent and which are already proved beneficial to our customers.


Next slide.

We are proposing outcome measures which reflect the large program spend increases over the next five years versus the prior five years, and impact our customers directly.


For example, vegetation management, we would rate an outcome measure to an outcome metric related to measuring the number of vegetation-caused outages, attempting to measure the effectiveness of the vegetation program.


With respect to pole replacement, we would expect -- we expect to replace between 11,000 and 15,000 poles during the five-year plan on an annual basis.  And historically, we have only up to this point been able to replace about 7,500 poles per year.


With respect to the PCB line equipment, this reflects the number of pole-top transformers with PCB oil, and again reflects the higher program costs that are contemplated.


In respect to substation refurbishment, our outcome proposal is the number of substation interruptions over the five-year period.  Funding is being proposed to manage our system reliability in the face of demographics and load requirements, and to mitigate end-of-life issues.


Concerning distribution line equipment refurbishment, we would look for an outcome measure that looked at the number of distribution line equipment interruptions, again over a five-year period.  Currently, for example, between 2011 and 2013, we see approximately 7,000 interruptions on an annual basis.  And we would look to decrease that with significant spending.

Concerning our overall customer satisfaction, we propose that we would have an independent third-party study on a biannual basis, and to come back and to cover a number of items including the customers' impression, their views of our service, rates, bill, reliability and communications, against which we would set a target measure.


Concerning unplanned outages, we would look to the percentage of our customers that were satisfied with the way in which Hydro One addressed those unplanned outages.  Again, this would be a third-party survey done on a biannual basis.


Estimated bills have been a problem for us, and we look to reduce the number of estimated bills during the five-year cycle.  Certainly it is difficult for us to talk about what is approximately a target, given that we are now working within a new environment with smart meters.  And a lot of our issues have been related to communications, connectivity, and also being able to obtain meter data.


So this will require an alignment of processes and also data, in order to reduce estimated bills on a go-forward basis.


I would like to introduce Mike Winters to talk about the customer service recovery program.
Presentation by Mr. Winters:

MR. WINTERS:  Thanks, Sandy.


So I will walk us through probably the next five to six slides, and it is really focussed on the customer service recovery effort that we have had underway for the bulk of this year and even started into -- started earlier last year.


So as everyone is aware, we did go live.  We did cut over to a new customer information system almost a year ago now, in May 2013.  It has worked well for 95 percent of our customers; however, for the other 5 percent, it definitely hasn't.

Actually, I will say as of today it is more like 3 percent, because we have been making a lot of good progress and remediating and resolving the issues that our customers have been experiencing for that percentage of customers.


So we have had technical and operational issues.  They are being addressed for that 3 percent.  And those technical issues really come to be either a delayed bill, customers experiencing no bill or a period of time without receiving a bill, or persistent estimates, receiving bills based on estimated usage versus actuals.  And we're taking steps to resolve both of those.


We knew some system data and operational issues were going to occur.  Through our interactions and communications with other utility companies across North America, there is very seldom a new -- a new billing system or customer information system of these levels of complexity that go in without a hitch.


So we were aware that we were going to receive issues, system defects, data issues, back office billing exceptions, and we had staffed up accordingly.  We did not staff up adequately.

As a company, we let the volumes and the backlogs get away from us.  We were working the problems.  We were working them prior to a lot of media attention we received earlier this year.  We were working them prior to the Ombudsman attention.  However, just not, as I said, just not fast enough.


The problems were compounding month over month, making it even more complicated to resolve these for our customers.


However -- and I will go through a number of key performance indicators on the subsequent slides, to actually show you the progress and the targets that we have set for ourselves.  Once stabilized, the customer service operation will deliver the benefits that are incorporated in the application.  Those -- that value realization does appear within our current application, and it either comes to be through our planned and targeted cost and customer operations, IT operations, as well as finance.


Important to note that ratepayers will not be paying for the remediation efforts that we have underway today.  And whether those incremental costs take the form of increases in bad debt, service credits that we are applying to our customers, or increased labour as we work the backlogs down, they won't be borne by the ratepayer.


We have been reporting status on our remediation efforts biweekly to our board of directors, to the Ontario Energy Board Staff, as well as the Ombudsman staff, based on the number of key performance indicators that I will be going through with you today.


And no offence to those groups I just mentioned, but more importantly, we have been communicating our status to our customers, either through media reports or through letters, direct letters, through phone and e-mail interaction, and even through a tele-town hall that we conducted a few weeks ago.


So the major focus is on improving that interaction with our customers.  When our customers do call us in a frustrated, in a stressful state, it is incumbent upon us to take that stress away from them and to give them the assurance that we are resolving their issues for them.


Actually, I am back to the Ombudsman.  So a little bit more on the Ombudsman status and trends.  So there is two streams of interaction that we have with the Ombudsman's office.  One is the investigation that they have underway.  So that is where we have handed over numerous documents.  We have conducted a number of specialized briefings with them, and then they will start their interviewing process, and that interview process is commencing and is starting now.  And that is in anticipation of their investigation report that we expect to have sometime in the fall.


The other element -- and so the numbers that you see on the slide in front of you is the complaint handling team.  So the Ombudsman has communicated with the public that they have received over 7,500 complaints, and they have also communicated to us they anticipate handing over 50 percent of those.  So the other 50 percent we can only surmise are related to things beyond Hydro One's control, such as commodity prices, debt retirement charge, gas plants, that sort of thing.


They have handed us over -- over 1,000 of the complaints to date.  We have resolved over 800 of those.  We have -- as you see the numbers, we have about 139 that are underway, and we are actually -- we're finding that we are actually able to address these.  We're addressing them proactively, as well as reactively.


We are proactively working the delayed-bills issues, so we are seeing that when we actually do get the complaint, the customer complaint, from the Ombudsman's office, as of right now 24, 25 percent we're seeing that we have already resolved in the previous weeks, and of course as time goes on we plan for that percentage to be increasing.


Next slide.  So I will go through a number of key performance indicators, what we're doing to, I will call it measure ourselves through this customer-service recovery effort.


On a daily basis we receive 2,500 to 3,000 calls per day that are billing-related.  We are coming out of the coldest winter in 20 years, so a very cold January, February, and March.  So over half of those bills -- or half of those calls that we get on a daily basis are related to high bill.


If you look at the graph on the top, these are the inbound call volumes denoted on a monthly basis.  If you do look at the time, we are actually approaching a volume of inbound billing-related calls that we had pre-go live of the new system.  It definitely peaked, and now it is trending downwards.


The green dash line represents what we're targeting for ourselves, and if you do look at where we plan on being in September, we plan to actually have less inbound calls than we did historically and traditionally when operating under the old -- or previous customer information system.


Reducing inbound calls.  This has been a combination of technical issues, as well as operational issues that we have experienced.  So we are definitely looking to -- we know from a billing standpoint we hope our customers never have to call us with a billing issue, so we are looking that when they do call that we're providing better first-call resolution, so we -- our customer contact agents have better visibility, and to the end-to-end work.


Better handling of high-bill enquiries.  As I said, over 50 percent of those calls today are high-bill-related, and again, a lot of it is weather-dependent, so we're taking, I would say, better steps at educating our customers on the impacts of outside temperature, as well as -- and what that does to baseboard heat, electric water heaters, and even geothermal heat pumps.


Of course, we wanted to see less billing problems.  We know with less billing problems we'll have less inbound calls, and then also better follow-through on requests.


The key performance indicator at the bottom of the page is around -- of the calls that we're getting on a daily basis, the number that end up getting escalated.  So we have actually hit a -- we have sort of hit our stride in regards to being able to resolve a lot of the delay bills issues, and as our customers receive those they are being presented with higher than expected bill.  It is a bill that spans multiple months.  So what we're seeing is the previous delayed bills now results in a high bill.  The customers are calling us, and we are -- and I will go over some of the things that we're doing for them.


And also, with an improved follow-up process that we have within our customer contact centre, in meeting with the OEB Staff previously they have told us anecdotally that some of our contact agents were referring customers to contact the OEB if they want to get their problem resolved, which is definitely not a state we want to be in.


With a more rigorous follow-through process that we have within our customer contact centre, when a call gets escalated we are giving time commitments on follow-through and calling them back in a certain period of time with either the resolution in hand or with an update as to where the resolution is.


So we see that as driving up the -- driving up the escalation volume, and we don't see that necessarily as a bad thing, but again, based on the green dash line, we hope to see that decline for a time.


If I could take you to the next slide.


I have talked about delayed bills, or what we call internally the no-bill volume.  And again, the -- you will notice in the top graph there is a break in time.  That is the -- right when we went live from the old system, so you see the historical numbers in the old system, and then a gap in time, and then measuring in the new system.  That just represents a gap in actually getting the measures and the reporting from the old system.


The key performance indicator below that is actually the back-office billing exceptions.  And as I mentioned on the onset, any billing operation can expect to get billing exceptions on a nightly basis.


We run and generate bills in batch for 50- to 60,000 bills per evening, per night, and of those a small percentage that don't meet the system parameters or fall out of range we will generate an exception that requires a back-office personnel to clear.


Again, if you look at the volumes, the volumes really got away from us.  That then compounds on top of each other and creates the no-bill state.  So not only are we resolving technical issues, but also the back-office exceptions to reduce the delayed bills.  So the two are very related.


The volumes and the types of exceptions that are generated on a nightly basis were foreign to our back-office personnel.  As I mentioned, we had staffed up.  I will say that the back-office personnel did not become proficient at a fast enough rate, and again, through staffing up even more so since then, as well as retraining and better work instructions, we are remediating that.


In the press, there was attention on the $233,000 bill, and that is an example of working an exception.  So that is an example of where the system did track the bill, and through human error that bill was released and the customer ended up seeing an, I will call it an outrageously high bill, of what we were already underway of correcting, but that is some of the things that we have experienced.


So we're taking both a manual and a system --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Excuse me, Mr. Winters, I'm just going to ask -- I'm not sure if -- Mr. DeRose, if you are on the line, is there a way that you could mute your line, unless you are going to be asking questions?  I'm not -- we're getting some interference.  I am not sure if it is coming from you or not.  I did hear some --


MS. BLANCHARD:  We will do that, yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Great.  Thank you.


MR. WINTERS:  So if you look at the no-bill key performance indicator, we are tracking ahead of plan, ahead of the targets we had set for ourselves back in the February and March time frame.


We know that this is a significant cause of customer concern --

MR. ROGERS:  Just hold on.  Let's see if we can correct this.  It is a little distracting.


MR. QUESNELLE:  We did hear someone additional coming on the line, and I am not sure if they are aware that they are on the line.  Someone has opened our line.  Is there a way, Mr. Thiessen, we can get at the...


Perhaps if need be we could disconnect this call and have Mr. DeRose call back in in a few moments, if that would be the way to clear it.  And then if it was an inadvertent contact, hopefully that doesn't happen again.

If it continues, we will take other steps.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  I think they're disconnected, and so we can carry on.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Very good.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  You are still on the line, Mr. DeRose?  No.  All right.  Let's...

MR. THIESSEN:  We are going to try to get back on again.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Maybe we will just take a brief moment.  We don't need to break, but let's just take a brief moment until we get Mr. DeRose back on.

[Teleconference set up with Mr. DeRose]

MR. QUESNELLE:  With any luck, Mr. DeRose is also listening in on the...

Okay.  Mr. DeRose, if you are listening on the Internet, perhaps if you could call in now and we will hear you coming on board.


But we will start now, I think, Mr. Winters, if you could continue.  This is transcribed and there will be a record of it.  So...


MR. WINTERS:  Okay.  Thank you.  So just the last point that I will make related to this particular -- these two particular key performance indicators is that if you also -- if you look at the no-bill volumes and where we're at actually versus target, we are ahead of planned.  Where we are reaching now is we are reaching the pre-go-live volumes.


The volumes that we had pre-go-live are not satisfactory to us.  You can see by the green dashed line that we are looking to get the number of delayed bills and delayed bills occurrences lower than historical, and even those -- lower than what we were experiencing in April 2012.


Next slide.


So these are the last two key performance indicators I promised, that we are, again, using to measure:  With everything that we're doing, is it taking effect?


The top one is around repeat customer contacts.  And the definition of that is the percentage of customers calling in today, how many of them have also contacted us in the previous six weeks.

So we definitely want to focus on first-call resolution, a one-and-done.  If our customers are calling us with a billing issue, we want to resolve their issue and not have them feel the need to call us over and over again.  We need to be following through on our commitments.


Interestingly, I could not find a comparator for this key performance indicator.  That is why you do not see a green dashed line for this one.


We did seek some information from our third-party survey providers, as well as our service provider that does the contact handling, front office and back office.  And neither of them were aware of this type of measure, but we feel it is important to -- as to how we manage our relationship with our customers.


So it is on a -- again, it is on a downward trend, and we are going to work to minimize that as much as we can.


It is a reflection, in my opinion, of whether our improvements are taking hold.  This will feed, I believe, directly into our customer satisfaction scores.  So fewer billing issues, better follow-through on requests, less overall billing-related calls, therefore less reasons for customers to need to call us, especially more than once.

The key performance indicator on the bottom of the page is related to consecutive or persistent estimates.  Mr. Struthers mentioned that this is one of our outcome measures, of which we haven't set, necessarily, targets, since we're dealing with new systems and new processes.  However, it is something that we are very attentive to.

We obviously have -- for those customers that are on time of use rates, and where we are billing them based on high, mid to low peak times, we want to be sending them actual bills or bills with actual usage as much as possible.


For those that are currently in the OEB exemption and are still on the two-tier rates, we will have -- as we have traditionally, we will bill them on a, for example – an actual -- an actual read, an estimate, an estimate, and then another actual read.


And again, that is to keep costs down from a meter-reading standpoint.  And so what we will be measuring here is both scheduled and unscheduled estimates.  In our opinion, anything over three consecutive periods is too much and we will be working to minimize that.  And, again, we've set a target for ourselves and we are exceeding that target.  What we have to do in order to keep these occurrences down is, of course, manual reads where we need to, meter replacement, collector and repeater replacement related to our smart meter network.  And then we may also explore customer reads.

Next slide.

So our customer commitment, I will walk you through a few of the bullets here.


Our customers will only pay for the electricity and services they use and for which they are billed.  It is incumbent on us to provide timely and accurate bills.  When we talk about accuracy and when we have our customers refer to the accuracy of the bills, really we can tie it back to what I will say is directly proportional to them receiving estimated bills.  And if it is estimated bills over a long period of time and then we bill them on an actual, they will have a large catch-up bill.  So they get surprised, not in a good way, with a large catch-up bill.


The next two bullets really talk about handling of our customers' concerns in a concise and fair manner.  Again, like I said before, taking the stress and frustration from them, and us following through in a concise way.


What we are doing for our customers proactively when we work through, for example, the delayed bill occurrences, is we are providing service credits for every month that we have not produced a bill and we are setting them up on a 12-month interest-free instalment plan.


We're definitely focussing on improved resolution times and improved follow-through.  We're also -- around the second-last bullet, we will provide sound energy advice.  We definitely have a focus on better interaction and better education on high bill inquiries.  I mentioned the effects of instead of just talking about, with our customers, how the electrons get from the generator to the meter, we are more readily going inside the customer's home with them, talking about electric baseboard heat, helping quantify the impacts, and, again, how it is temperature-related.


We have turned down our collections processes.  We definitely will need to start ramping those back up to manage our bad debt expenses, but we want to do that very carefully and very prudently.


I will now hand it back to Mr. Struthers.
Presentation by Mr. Struthers:

MR. STRUTHERS:  So what Hydro One is proposing is a five-year custom cost of service application, which properly reflects a situation of increased capital spending.  Capital spending as compared to depreciation outstrips it in the ratio of almost 2:1.


Our approach has been customized to fit Hydro One's specific circumstances, which reflect an increasing rate base of approximately 3 to $400 million per year, and to ensure that Hydro One Distribution is capable of effectively addressing the large capital expenditure requirement needed to manage its aging assets planned for future expansion, and also to modernize to meet its customers' needs.


The custom approach provides the necessary financial structure that maintains the credit capacity and meets our financial requirements, and which allows us to raise debt, new debt, in a cost effective manner.


By using the five-year approach, we also have the benefit of being able to smooth for our customers increases in their rates, making those increases predictable and avoiding rate shock.  The smoothing avoids that initial rate shock that would have occurred in 2015 year, even under any of the other options available to us.


We recognize that we are taking risks in making this five-year application.  First, it is the first time that we have actually filed a five-year rate application and the first time that we are required to accurately forecast a budget for five years.  Typically our budgets have been much more to the two-year range.  We're taking significant risk with doing so.


We also face external risks to the extent that they could impact our ability to deliver on those forecasts and could impact on our financial performance.  We are suggesting some mitigation to reduce that impact.  For example, we are suggesting an annual adjustment.  Those would include such items as the change in cost of capital and working capital, pass-through for tax-rate increases, pass-through for third-party costs, the disposition of deferral or variance accounts.  And those would be addressed through an annual update for the upcoming year and as part of a draft rate order.


There are also items which I would call outside the normal course of business.  Those would include new government directions or legislation, material changes to codes or to regulation or standards, material unforeseen weather events, and accounting changes.


We would track those variances and seek to file an application to address when they become material.  Those rate adjustments would be done or be addressed through an adder a rate rider.  And we would look to propose a 0.5 percent revenue requirement as being a material impact.


With respect to off-ramps, we would propose to apply the Board's current policy, plus we would like to add two additional off-ramps.  They would be with respect to an industry restructuring or if there was a major change to our service territory, which would impact the cost to our customers and to the company.


We're also proposing that we provide on an annual basis outcome measures.  Those would be a set of measures which I talked about which would align with demonstrating customer preferences, enhanced productivity, and promotion of innovation and value for money, and would reflect the enhanced spending in our work programs and the outcome of that spending.  We would track those outcomes and report annually.


I believe Ms. Frank spoke more about the intended process in the first technical panel, so I am sure most of the intervenors are aware of the process, but in essence our application over the five-year period would be as follows.


Our first item would be the annual adjustment submitted in December 2014 for the 2015 rates, and those would reflect the updated return on equity and debt issuances to that point in time.


We would then propose 12 months later to go through the same process, and if there were other annual adjustments that are noted those would also be dealt with as well at that time.


After the first year in April 2016, which would be the -- for the year ended December 2015, we would file performance reports, including those eight items that I noted, as well as -- which we propose to track, as well as the other OEB performance items, and this process would continue to be repeated for the remaining period of the five-year application.


In the event of a non-normal adjustment we would propose to proceed with a hearing in which we would file evidence, with a written hearing to address the changes through a rider and/or tracking in a variance or deferral account.  Again, all of this would depend on the nature of the non-normal adjustment being sought and the materiality.


So I would like to thank the panel for their time today, reiterate the company's intention to work with the intervenors and the Board and Board Staff to develop a five-year custom filing which fairly meets the needs of all the parties in a transparent and equitable manner, and we also look forward to the opportunity as the first applicant under this five-year custom option as we work together with the various stakeholders in a new and somewhat uncertain regulatory environment and ask for your patience as we do so.


Thank you very much.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Struthers.


Can I get a feeling for timing on this?  We could take a break now and come back and get into this.  I think the staff will have some questions, I take it?
Procedural Matters:

MS. LEA:  Mr. Chairman, staff understands the presentation, and we truly appreciate the opportunity to hear it.  We appreciate your attendance today.


Given the Board's procedural order, and in accordance with that procedural order, this presentation has been transcribed, but it is not sworn evidence, and so we are going to hold any questions that we have where we're truly seeking further information for interrogatories or possibly cross-examination, because the answers we would receive today are not part of the sworn evidence package.


I just wanted to confirm with Mr. Rogers two things in that regard.  The first is, this is now an exhibit in this proceeding, so we presume that we can ask interrogatories on the actual filed exhibit that we have here.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.


And secondly, if there was anything new in the oral presentation today -- and it may just be my failing memory, but I don't remember reading in the original evidence, for example, the 0.5 percent revenue requirement trigger.


Now, I may be wrong about that.  In any event, if there was anything new given orally today that is not in the slide deck, we presume that that will be coming forward in the update that we will be receiving on the evidence?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  I think I could say that.  The 0.5 may not have said 0.5.  I think it was he expressed in millions of dollars.


MS. LEA:  That may well be true.  I just had to search my memory quickly --


MR. ROGERS:  I am impressed you remembered as much as you did.


MS. LEA:  Well, it is the aging asset problem, as we're all aware.


So in that regard then, Mr. Quesnelle, we are not going to ask questions seeking further information given the nature of today.  And I don't think we have questions that clarify.  We understood the presentation.  So that is where Board Staff is at in terms of questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Anyone else that will be asking questions?  Mr. Shepherd, I just have got to get a feel for whether or not we should take a break now or...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I have eight questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Anyone else will be having questions?  Mr. Poch?  I feel like I am running an auction here, but anyway.

[Laughter]


Mr. Garner?


MR. GARNER:  We may have two questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I know that the panel may have some as well.  So why don't we take a 15-minute break and give the panel a chance to relax.  Actually, we will break until eleven o'clock, okay?  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:45 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:05 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  Okay.  I think where we left off, we were just about to start some questions on the presentation this morning.


And so Ms. Lea and Staff are not -- don't have any questions of clarification at this point.


Mr. Shepherd, you had indicated that you have a few?  Eight, to be specific?

[Laughter]
Questions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


The first one, actually, is sort of related to one thing Board Staff asked.


Should we assume that everything in the presentation, everything that is on the record here today that is not in the evidence yet, will get in the evidence at some point?  Is that a fair assumption?


So if we ask a question, will you make sure that it gets in the evidence at some point?

MR. ROGERS:  If Mr. Shepherd asks a sensible, reasonable question -- which I fully expect -- the answer will get in the record.


[Laughter]


MR. SHEPHERD:  I won't comment on that.


And the second, related to that, is:  Have you determined yet whether the four executives here will be providing evidence in the oral hearing?

MR. ROGERS:  No.  I have not -- we have not decided yet.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Have not decided?  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me turn to some of your slides.  The first one, I think it is you, Ms. Cooke, talked about customer engagement.

I wonder, have you done -- you are proposing 7 percent per year distribution rate increases over five years.  Have you, at some point, gone and asked your customers what they think about that?


MS. COOKE:  I mentioned in my response that we -- or my -- when I was discussing my slides, that we have existing customer satisfaction research, but we made a decision to do a booster study to support this filing, and also because of the Renewed Regulatory Framework requirements.


And we wanted to make a closer connection between rates and people's perception about rates and willingness to pay for improved reliability, improved service.


In asking those questions, what we heard was that, for the most part, 83 percent of our customers were satisfied with the rates that they were paying and the level of reliability that they were receiving.


Did we ask questions specifically about the specific rate increase in this filing?  To my knowledge, no, we did not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.


You talked, I think, Mr. Smith, about vegetation management and wood pole replacement?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I didn't -- I didn't understand whether you had done some sort of cost-benefit analysis to demonstrate that there's -- that the ramp-up in that spending will result in lower costs in the long term.


Is there a study somewhere?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we do do a cost-benefit analysis of the value of the ramp-up.


Basically, we have experience; we do have parts of the province that we are at a six- to eight-year cycle, and we know the savings that that has achieved.


We also look externally as well.


It is part of the entire investment planning process, part of the asset analytics, is that we look into -- more than, say, if you're looking, like, a consultant study, it's more -- no, it is part of our day job, so to speak.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there something in the evidence that shows us that cost-benefit analysis?  Could the Board go take a look at it and say:  Here is what happens if you are at a ten-year cycle and here's what happens at an eight-year cycle and a six-year cycle, and this shows what is the cheapest?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know whether that's a --


MR. SMITH:  I know we have the studies; I am not sure exactly what is in the evidence at this point.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thanks.  We will follow that up in IRs.


The next is on slides 17 to 19 -- I think this is you, Mr. Winters?

MR. WINTERS:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are these numbers on the left-hand side, are those monthly numbers?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes, they are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's true on 17, 18 and 19, except for the top one?

MR. WINTERS:  They are all monthly.  Sorry, you're saying the top one.  You're referring to the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which has percentages.


MR. WINTERS:  Oh, yes, sorry.  There's percentages or volumes within the month, so the -- it is a monthly number.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, on 19, you have January 2014, the line's at about 30,000.  That means in that month there were 30,000 bills that were greater than their third consecutive period; do I understand that right?

MR. WINTERS:  Yes.  30,000 of the 1.3 million customers, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, that's out of how many bills?  Because -- do you bill everybody every month?

MR. WINTERS:  Largely, they are billed monthly.  We do have some on quarterly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Okay.  My sixth question relates to slide 20.  And this is headed up:  "Our customer commitment."  And I guess I was a little confused.  I actually had some questions like:  Where is productivity and benchmarking and cost reduction?


But I take it that this is only your customer service commitment.  This is not your overall commitment to your customers; this is your commitment on the customer service side only?


MR. WINTERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.  I understand that, then.


My seventh question on is on slide 21.  You referred to this as a "custom cost of service application."


I am just wondering whether that is accidental, because the Board's rule is custom IR, custom incentive regulation.


So is this intentional, that you are saying this is not that?  This is not incentive regulation; this is cost of service?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  Our intention was that this would be a -- because we're allowed a custom application, that we would come back with an application that best fit our needs, as well as our customer needs.


The way to do that was a five-year custom cost of service application, but clearly there are productivity and performance measures that we would intend to meet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So am I understanding, then, that this is not intended to be a custom incentive regulation application under the Renewed Regulatory Framework?

MR. STRUTHERS:  As I indicated, this is a custom application which meets the needs of our customers and the company.  It reflects -- it's primarily a cost of service application, but it does have within it certain reporting requirements with respect to performance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then my last question is -- and I wasn't actually going to ask this, but then you raised the comment on slide 21 that you want an off-ramp for major changes to your service territory.


So that leads to an area that there is a lot going on right now.  It is sort of widely known that Hydro One was talking to a whole lot of other distribution companies about M&A activity.  I am not asking you for details; that is not where I am going with this.


Is it your intention that this off-ramp kick in if you acquire enough other utilities that there is a major change?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't believe that is what we had initially intended with this suggestion.


I think we would have to look at each of our MAAD applications to determine how we would deal with it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there a relationship between your planned cost control activities and how you keep your unit costs down relative to your numbers of customers and your M&A program?

MR. STRUTHERS:  You are asking a speculative question, depending on what was acquired, the size of what might be acquired, what is available, the cost savings that might be obtained.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I'm not.  No, I'm trying to understand whether -- you have an M&A strategy, which I am not asking you to disclose.  I understand.


But you have a strategy, and one of the reasons for that strategy could be to get your average cost down across your customers.  Is that -- is there a relationship between the two?  That is what I'm asking.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Within the plan that we put forward, we have made no assumptions with respect to any M&A activity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have assumed no -- none, zero?

MR. STRUTHERS:  To answer Mr. Shepherd's question, it is difficult to speculate when one doesn't know what the outcome might be.  So we haven't assumed any additional cost savings as a result of M&A activity.  We don't know what could be acquired, what might be acquired, or what even is available.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Those are the questions I had.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

On that last question, Mr. Shepherd, so recognizing your assumption that you assume that there is no activity, the plan isn't dependent on that and you are not making any projections, and the strategy aside, what -- I think Mr. Shepherd is trying to get at:  What was the thinking of the discussion of an off-ramp?  Could you present a hypothetical that may trigger this type of off-ramp that you're considering?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If -- I prefer to provide a hypothetical in an -- on an in camera basis.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MS. LEA:  I wonder if I can assist.  This question was asked in a technical conference, I believe.  There was some discussion of what this off-ramp meant in one of the technical conferences.  Of course, I can't remember exactly where.  But my understanding is it had to do more with some sort of restructuring.  I'm sorry, I don't remember exactly, but I know this was discussed in a technical conference.


MR. ROGERS:  Could I just take some advice.  I don't think I was at that technical conference.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Sorry.


MR. DeROSE:  If it would help, Mr. Chair -- it is Vince DeRose here.  If the answer is to be given in camera, I recognize that I would have to get off the line.  Perhaps that could be done right at the end.  And then I have signed a confidentiality order, and then perhaps I could just get the in camera transcript.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  I don't know that we're seriously contemplating that at this point, but thank you for that.


MR. ROGERS:  Can I just have a moment to speak to Mr. Cowan?


[Mr. Cowan and Mr. Rogers confer]


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Quesnelle, I am advised that this did come up in a technical conference, and I think that I understand the response in the technical conference, and there will be a record of this, I think, was that it was a major -- the company has a possible potential major restructuring as triggering this off-ramp recommendation.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So there is -- will there be in evidence at a later date at some sort of magnitude or a quantification of the nature of what would be within the realm of "major"?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  I think the company will flesh that out for you maybe in the blue pages or at some other mechanism, but, yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Mr. Shepherd, does that assist?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  Actually, I wasn't confused, but now I am.  I thought Mr. Struthers said that the company was proposing two additional off-ramps, one for an industry restructuring --


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- and the other for a major change to its service territory.  So I understand the industry restructuring.  But if the major change to the service territory is also an industry restructuring, they're the same thing.  I don't understand.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, they -- yes, it is quite possible they could be exactly the same thing.  It is also quite possible they could be something different.  There is the Murray Elston panel suggestions as to what could potentially be a structural change.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But that would be --


MR. STRUTHERS:  You could argue that is an industry restructuring, you could argue that it could be a significant loss in service territory for Hydro One.


MR. ROGERS:  Let me help.  There is a reference, albeit it very brief, in the evidence at the moment at Exhibit A, tab 4, schedule 1, page 4 of 5, dealing with off-ramps and what the exhibit says is:

"Hydro One Distribution is proposing to apply the Board's policy in relation to off-ramps and to add two additional off-ramps in the event of industry restructuring or a major change to Hydro One's service territory."

So it is the major change that the company has in mind.  And we will give some consideration to defining "major" a little better as we go forward.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, that is the part I don't understand.  So for example, if you acquired London Hydro, let's say, is that a major change?


MR. QUESNELLE:  I think that is what is intended that the more clarification will be brought to that question, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking of a type as opposed to a particular example --


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chairman -- I'm sorry to interrupt my friend, but as I understood, the purpose of this was to answer high-level questions dealing with their explanation this morning.  Now my friend is really cross-examining.  I agree it is a legitimate enquiry, but this is not the place.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I think what Mr. Shepherd is attempting to do is classify or at least put into buckets as to what -- if I could, Mr. Shepherd, distinguish between the two additional off-ramp triggers would be, or what -- would they be -- one industry-led and the other Hydro One in its own volition would perhaps trigger, and I think that is the one where we would like to see more around what the -- from a quantum perspective what constitutes major, and as some hypotheticals on that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Whether we -- I would suggest that perhaps that is something that could be -- if we recognize that that is the distinction, this could be brought -- have Hydro One respond to these concerns, and then further discovery at a later date.


MR. ROGERS:  Well --


MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm sorry, I recognize you're...


MR. ROGERS:  I think I have an answer.  I just want to make sure I understand it before I give it, if you could just give me a moment, sir?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly, certainly.


[Mr. Rogers confers with Mr. Al Cowan.]


MR. ROGERS:  I am instructed that the intent is that any individual acquisition would not be part of this off-ramp contemplated.  So that any one utility wouldn't trigger the company applying for an off-ramp provision.


MS. HARE:  I actually had the same question, because I did hear Mr. Struthers say that there would be two additional reasons for an off-ramp, industry restructuring, major changes to service territory.


And I would like -- and it could be -- it would actually be better if you did it in evidence, to have a better explanation of what those two triggers mean, because I don't actually understand what they mean.


MR. ROGERS:  No, I think it is a good question, and I can undertake that we will do that.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd, thank you very much.  Mr. Poch?

Questions by Mr. Poch:

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  If these questions get too detailed, I fully appreciate we can deal with it later in discovery.  But I am just trying to understand these -- if we look at slide 21, where you talk about your framework, and the -- you've got adjustments that are recurring and a mechanical nature, and then you've got the potential for adjustments for unexpected materially impactful events.


And I was looking at the example of the line losses.  And first of all, let me congratulate you.  I see that they're falling from 8.9 to 6.6 to 4.8 over the last few years.  But I read the evidence as saying you're going to hold that factor at 7.3 percent.


Would this be something, if the reality starts to vary significantly from that factor, does that qualify as a material impactful event, or alternatively, are you proposing to, through some variance account -- and I am not talking about the commodity flow-through variance account, but rather the distribution revenue-requirement recovery, as if that could by line loss changes -- are you proposing that that get picked up somewhere in a mechanical way?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I was going to suggest perhaps we can better answer that question through an IR.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  That's fine, Mr. Chairman.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  Mr. Garner?

Questions by Mr. Garner:

MR. GARNER:  I just wanted to ask about the estimated bill outcome that you have put into your presentation this morning.


My question really is, subsequent to the introduction of the smart meters, why are there any estimated bills?


MR. WINTERS:  I can answer that.  As you're aware, historically before smart meters we were actually estimating on a monthly basis the vast majority of our meters and accounts.


With smart metering we're able to reduce that significantly.  We still have in the range of 120,000 meters that aren't on time-of-use.  Those would be an example of, based on their meter-reading schedule, in which they're still manual, of which we still -- if those customers are indeed on monthly bills, they would get a bill based on estimated usage, and then again, and then based on actual, and that is how we have been doing it historically even prior to smart meters.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  I guess what I'm still wondering, is it the policy of the company right now to have all your meters be smart meters and read remotely, as opposed to needing to be read manually?


MR. WINTERS:  Consistent with the smart-meter program, that is indeed our desire and intent, but based on the reality of -- due mainly to the vastness of our geography and the reliability of the communication network that we have tied to those smart meters, we aren't able to read them all remotely.


MR. GARNER:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.


Anyone else?  Dr. Higgin?

Questions by Dr. Higgin:

DR. HIGGIN:  Hi.  Roger Higgin for Energy Probe.

I just would like to clarify on slide 21 the item 5 that Mr. Struthers discussed.  And by way of segue into this, just to mention, as you have, that this is a custom cost of service application.  Okay?

So there isn't a particular set of guidelines.  My premise regarding the annual reporting requirements, you are proposing some.

So my question is:  Are they listed in the evidence yet?  Or will they be in the evidence, to those requirements?  And also, are they on the Issues List?

MR. STRUTHERS:  To answer your question, I believe they are.

MR. ROGERS:  Actually, if I can help, Mr. Chairman, they will be addressed in the blue pages.

DR. HIGGIN:  Then the second question on the draft issues list, is this annual reporting an issue, the stakeholder engagement and annual reporting on the actual proposed issues list that you filed on May the 7th?

MR. ROGERS:  It may not be identified in quite that terminology, but yes, it is an issue.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Stephenson?
Questions by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you.  It is Richard Stephenson, counsel for the Power Workers' Union.

I just wanted to -- I think this is for Mr. Winters.  I just wanted some clarification around the vegetation management example and the wood pole replacement example that you provided in your presentation.

As I understood it, with respect to vegetation management, the objective of this increase in activity during the five-year period is to bring you down to a different cycle which will have -- the hope being will put you on a different cost basis going forward on a shorter cycle.

I think that is right, is it?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I just want to contrast that with the wood pole replacement.

You are ramping up your -- the number of units of replacement per year.  Once you get there, at 2019, is there an expectation that that number will then decrease after that period of time?  Or is it likely to increase, or more or less stay the same?

MR. SMITH:  The expectation beyond is more or less to stay the same, but we would be reassessing, obviously, as we got closer to that date and based on the experience we have over that period.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.

Mr. DeRose, do you have anything?

MR. DeROSE:  No.  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.  That is fine.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

I will just ask the Panel.  Ms. Hare?
Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  I have a couple of questions of clarification on customer satisfaction.

Mr. Struthers, you indicated that you were going to do a biannual survey by third party.

Is that not what you do now?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.  We currently do one, yes.

MS. HARE:  So twice a year?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  So then that takes me to slide number 6.

Ms. Cooke, you talked about the results, 2013.  When will the next results be available?

MS. COOKE:  Just a point of clarification.  You're referring to the booster study that I spoke to?

MS. HARE:  Well, actually that's another question that I had.  What is a booster study?

MS. COOKE:  Yes.  Let me clarify.

We do biannual surveys on customer satisfaction -- They're done by an independent firm for Hydro One -- where we measure customers' satisfaction with different aspects of our service, whether it is the call centre or billing, rates, prices.  We also look at the drivers of satisfaction.

The additional study that I referred to is -- we're calling it a booster study, for lack of a better name.

We had the results of the biannual surveys, but because of the Renewed Regulatory Framework and what it asks of us, we made a decision to do an additional survey.  So we call it a booster survey.

With that survey, we wanted to get deeper into the customers' views or perceptions, making relationships between reliability and rates that they're willing to pay in return for improved service.

MS. HARE:  So when I look at slide 6 and it says "2013", when was that taken?

MS. COOKE:  The survey, customers were interviewed in the mid- to late October time frame, probably into early November.  We got the results a few weeks after that.

MS. HARE:  So when will the next one be taken?

MS. COOKE:  So we haven't set a date for that.  Certainly this was -- this survey was completed in support of this application.  I do not know specifically what the plans are for a next survey.

Certainly we do believe that given the requirements under the Renewed Regulatory Framework, we must start layering these types of questions into our biannual surveys.  Does that help?

MS. HARE:  Yes, it does.  Thank you.

A quick question.  Mr. Winters, you talked about the interview process by the Ombudsman's office.  Who is going to be interviewed?  Hydro One's staff?  Or customers as well?

MR. WINTERS:  It is my understanding that it will be personnel associated with the services we provide.  So not just Hydro One staff, but also our outsource service providers, both on the technical side and the customer service side.

MS. HARE:  But not customers?

MR. WINTERS:  Not --


MS. HARE:  To your understanding?

MR. WINTERS:  -- to my knowledge, no.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

Mr. Struthers, you said:  Our request for 2015 would be the same whether we were asking for a fourth-generation IRM application or a five-year customer application.

Now, you are asking for 7 percent.  If you are under fourth-generation IRM, the increase would be more like 1.5 percent.  So I don't understand that statement.

MR. STRUTHERS:  If I could go back to the chart that you see in front of you, what we would be asking for, in fact, would be the rate rebase setting in 2015.

So we would rebase on that number, which is approximately 11.5 percent.  Then we would move into an IRM after that.

MS. HARE:  All right.  I invite you to look at the transcripts of what you said, because I wrote it down exactly.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry.  Then I --


MS. HARE:  And my understanding what you said --


MR. STRUTHERS:  -- I should clarify.

MS. HARE:  Clarify later.  It's fine.  You have a chance to correct it.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Because I did write it down.  So if you could correct it, that would be great.

One last question on slide 21.  Some of them already came off.  It is something else that you said about the third bullet point.

You indicated that an off-ramp would also be triggered by third-party costs.  Can you explain to me what that means?

It is not in the slide deck; it is what you said.

MR. STRUTHERS:  When I was talking about third-party costs, I was talking about an annual adjustment.

So for example, if it is of a mechanical nature or it is a pass-through cost –- if it would be a third-party cost, such as cost of power or whatever -- then we would anticipate that would be dealt through an annual adjustment.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  That is what I wanted to understand, or whether you meant third party in terms of contractor costs.

MR. STRUTHERS:  No.  The intention is to stay within the normal course of events.  If it's within the normal course of events and controllable, then that wouldn't be an issue.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Hare.

Dr. Elsayed?

DR. ELSAYED:  Just a high-level question about your plan.

In the customer survey results that you showed, it seemed that obviously price was by far the largest concern, but it was followed by reliability as the next concern.

Can you explain at a high level how your plan achieves this balance between those two?

MS. COOKE:  I am happy to explain the results, but I would ask my colleague Mr. Smith to address how the plan addresses these results.

And forgive me if I am repeating things that were already said.

If -- I am looking at slide 5 right now.  If we look at 2012 compared to 2013, our customers who said that rates were a driver to dissatisfaction decreased to 56 percent from 61 percent.

Although it is a decrease, this is still a significant number for us.  It is important.  This means, obviously, that rates are of high concern to our customers.

But we also in the same period saw customers' views about the importance of reliability change as well.  So from 2012 to 2013, our customers said that reliability -- 25 persons of them said that reliability or lack of was a driver to dissatisfaction, and obviously more than they were in 2 -- sorry, in 2012.

We believe that part of the reason for that had to do with just the volume of storm and outage activity we have had in this past year.  And I think Wayne spoke to that earlier.

So that is an explanation of those results.

I would ask my colleague Wayne to respond to the second half of the question.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  So overall on cost we're looking for innovation, looking for ways to do work more efficiently.  You know, in areas like wood pole we use different pole-setting techniques.  We go out and we contract out and we bundle work so we can contract the pole-setting more efficiently.  So efficiency across all work, obviously, is addressing costs.

When you get to specific reliability, there is a reliability boost you get that often is consistent with cost, and the best example of that is vegetation management.

So vegetation management is being driven by cost, absolutely.  We want to get to cycles that are more cost-effective.  But when you get the cycles that are more cost-effective, those cycles also give you a reliability boost.

One of the reasons why our sub-transmission, our higher voltage -- or sub-transmission distribution lines, our higher-voltage distribution lines that have the most load on them were already at a six- to eight-year cycle is because those have the biggest reliability impacts.  So obviously the current funding gets us a certain number of our feeders that we can achieve on a six- or an eight-year cycle, which is cost-effective.

By focusing on those ones that have the biggest reliability impact we also get the reliability boost.  So you have those examples where cost savings and reliability gain are complementary, and you want to explore those.  And that is one reason why the forestry program is a strong desire of mine that we get to that optimal level, because you do get a reliability boost.

Then you get to the investments, obviously, where reliability boost costs money, so you are going to be paying a rate increase to justify the reliability improvement.

We then want to decide, you know, what is it that is driving the concern by the customer, so you are almost getting down to a customer-by-customer basis.  On industrial, our larger customers, that involves meeting with the customer, talking with the customer.

Just a week and a half ago I was meeting with a customer in Muskoka that has plants in the United States and Ontario, that they're concerned about cost, but they're also concerned about reliability.

When you get to that situation, you want to understand what is causing the unreliability, work with the customers on it, and decide what we can do cost-effectively on our power system.

So in that way you are directing the funding to the problem more directly, as opposed to just broad-brushing it and throwing money at it.  You don't do that.  You really want to understand, so that percentage of customers that are dissatisfied with reliability, why are they dissatisfied, and what can we do differently to address those reliability concerns.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I just have one, and it is actually a follow-up to Mr. Stephenson's comparison of the forestry program, vegetation management, and the pole replacement.

And he was making the distinction and it was accepted that, when you get to the end of 2019, that those amounts in the pole replacement program or likely the -- would likely plateau and stay level at that point.

So am I to understand that the program, as designed, ramps up to a point where in 2019 you will have -- and I know it is not truly life cycle based on condition, but with the poles it is -- you do a risk assessment, and the two are very closely related, I understand, you know, from the conversations from the technical conferences, that this plan gets you up to an asset replacement schedule, which will then be at the optimum level and therefore recur on an ongoing basis, growth aside, but just on a static perspective?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  The plan, in a minimal sense, yes. There is risk that in the future the plan will have to go higher depending on how poles perform, whether we get into issues with poles that are unforeseen at this time.

From our point of view we really took the view that we didn't want a big shock increase down the road, but we didn't want a big shock increase now either.

So we really set it at sort of the minimal level of an increase that we believe will give us a sustainable plan over the long-term.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So it is not a matter of catching up or matching this period with a high investment period of 40 years ago, it is a matter of getting to a point where you then feel that you will have a sustaining replacement capital at the right level.

MR. SMITH:  That's correct.  You do have, obviously, peaks and valleys historically of when poles were replaced, and our plan going forward, we're trying to smooth that.

That is not to say it won't go up somewhat at the end of the plan.  I can't say that categorically.  But the view is we're trying to smooth it out over the long-term.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Okay.  With that, I understand there was a request that we would have an extended lunch to allow parties to discuss the draft issues list, and to that end we're at 20 to 12:00 now, and I will just bounce this off -- Ms. Lea, would one o'clock be sufficient?  Or are we thinking more of 1:30?

MS. LEA:  I think we need an hour and a half at least, Mr. Chairman.  So that would be 1:15 at a minimum.  Would 1:30 be the best time?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think so.

MS. LEA:  Would that be acceptable to the panel?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  I think that would be just fine.  Let us know if unforeseen you are ready to go again at 1:00 and would like to start, we will think about starting a little earlier, vice versa.  If you need more time, please let us know, okay?

MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess at 11:40 a.m.

--- On resuming at 3:59 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Well, that was a long and hopefully productive lunch, so...


[Laughter]


MR. QUESNELLE:  Not that we were just sitting around.  We have all have offices we went back to and we did some work.  So hopefully the fruits of everyone's labour can be recognized here this afternoon.


Ms. Lea, perhaps you could start us off.

Submissions by Ms. Lea:

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  First of all, Board Staff would like to acknowledge, at least on our behalf, our gratitude to Hydro One for its openness to changes on the list that it produced.  And also we acknowledge that with the list that Hydro One filed on May the 7th, they had indicated that they were open to have any and all questions that had come up in the technical conferences answered under that list.


So we acknowledge that that initial list, there was no attempt by the company to restrict questioning with respect to the evidence that is before us.


However, the main concern of intervenors and Board Staff that was raised today, as I understand it, was the way the issues list -- whether or not it was compatible with the RRFE policy framework.


We asked the company to consider a number of changes that would make it, in our view, more consistent with that framework.  And we have come -- as you have seen with the hard copy that is before you, we have come to some agreement with respect to that.


What I would like to do, actually, for the benefit of the record is give this draft issues list that was provided in hard copy to you about 15 minutes ago an exhibit number.


We're going to call it PD.2 and we will provide an electronic copy for the record.
EXHIBIT NO. PD2: DRAFT ISSUES LIST.


MS. LEA:  The other thing that I want to note is that in dealing with the RRFE framework, Board Staff also recognizes that the Board has to set just and reasonable rates.  So you need to consider proposed costs and the element of revenue requirement, load and revenue forecasts, cost allocation and rate design.  And these items were on the original list.


So there were two main reasons for the changes that you will see before you today.  Even if an issues list is liberally interpreted or the company does not object to questions, there are two things that may be driven by an issues list that we thought could be improved.


An issues list can provide structure for the Board's decision.  So when you envision your decision in this case and the key decision points that need to be addressed, we're hoping that this newer list provides you with a structure for your decision which is acceptable.


Secondly, an issues list can indicate the nature of the application and help to frame the intended presentation of the evidence, what evidence will be emphasized, how it will be examined, what the witness panel structure may be.


And so when we looked at the initial list, Staff and intervenors had some concerns about whether the applicant had fully considered RRFE policy in determining how to present its case.  Were there areas of evidence to be examined that needed more explicit recognition or more prominence on the list?


And it is that which has, in part, driven these proposed changes.


I would like to take you, then, to the list that was provided to you about 15 minutes ago and has now been made Exhibit PD No. 2, draft issues list.  It is also appearing on the screens.


The way this is structured is as follows.  If "Track changes" appear in sections 1 through 5, this indicates a change.  I will get to section 6 and 7 in a moment.


Where there is highlighting appearing on the list, these are areas of dispute.  And I am going to ask the company, intervenors, and perhaps we will also have some submissions with respect to that.


So I will briefly indicate what has changed.


You will see that 1.1, a few words have been added, and a new sentence has been added at the top, which is in dispute.


And section 1, the original section 1, has been divided into two sections now, the first being custom application and the second being outcomes and incentives.


And that split -- which is agreed to by the company -- is in part a recognition of what I just spoke to.  The need for the issues list, in our view, to more --to better address the RRFE policy.


Issue 1.4 is new.  There was always a rate smoothing mechanism proposed in the evidence, as you heard this morning, and ratepayer protection measures were added.


In section 2, you will see additional words in 2.2 and 2.4, which the company has agreed to.


2.6 is an item in dispute; I think the company can best explain that, but the first part of the issue –- are Hydro One's forecasts, revenue, costs, inflation and productivity reasonable -- is not in dispute.


2.7 is new.  2.8 is new.


Under the third section, you will see some additional words added in 3.1 -- sorry, 3.2 and 3.3, and you will see that the words in 3.3 that are highlighted are in dispute.


In section 4, 4.1, some words are agreed to; one word is not.


Section 5 is no change.


Section 6, originally this section had components of revenue requirement listed by letter, and what has changed here is these items are now given an individual number.  And this was a suggestion that we've made -- not Board Staff, but that was made by -- I think it was Mr. Garner, that when you try to craft interrogatories, it is easier to work with, possibly, a numbering system and that it would get pretty complicated if we relied on the letters.


You will see that in 6.6, new words have been added.


In section 7, this has now become cost allocation and rate design, and issues 7.1 and 7.2 are new.  Issue 7.3, 7.4, 7.5 were previously on the list.  Issue 7.6 is new.  The rest of the issues were on the list, 7.7, 7.8, 7.9, 7.10.


I think that is an accurate summary of what is old and what is new.  And I would invite the applicant to deal with the disputed issues, and we may need to hear from others as we go down that list.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I would just ask my co-Panel Members:  Any questions or part to explain?

DR. ELSAYED:  No.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you.


Mr. Rogers?

Submissions by Mr. Rogers:

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, sir.  Thank you very much, Members of the Board.


There has been a lot of discussion here this afternoon and I am going to spare you that and give you the Reader's Digest version of where we are here.


The company has a conceptual problem with two main issues here.


One is to do with the compatibility of the company's application with the Renewed Regulatory Framework as a sort of seminal, threshold question.


And the second has to do with benchmarking, which I know is an important part of your Revised Regulatory Framework Report.


On the first issue -- this is 1.1 on the issues list -- it is proposed by the intervenors that the sentence that is in bold and in yellow be added.  And my client objects to that for reasons which I'm going to explain to you very briefly.


It is proposed that an issue should be:


"Is the custom application consistent with the 
Renewed Regulatory Framework for Electricity"?

Now, obviously the compatibility of the application with the revised Regulatory Framework is an issue in the case.


My client is concerned, though, that by drafting it this way, it becomes kind of a seminal issue, a threshold issue.


My client made the application.  The Board accepted the application.  It is a customized application under the Renewed Regulatory Framework Report.  They have publicized it.  We have had technical conferences, and here we are today on the issues list.


And to be quite frank with you, Members of the Board, my client is very concerned that if this issue is framed the way the intervenors wish it to be framed, and the answer is no -- is the custom application consistent with the Renewed Regulatory Framework For Electricity?  If the answer is no, people are going to say:  Well, then the case is dismissed.


And that has obviously -- I don't want to overstate this -- very dire consequences for everybody associated with this utility.


My client accepts the fact that modifications to its application may be necessary to get better compliance with the regulatory framework report.  They believe that it has complied with it.  It is a custom application.  It has been framed by the company as a customized cost of service application, but all of us recognize that it is under the custom incentive regulation application of the Board's report.  And the Board's order says that that is the basis on which you have accepted it for filing.


So whether you call it a customized cost of service application or a customized incentive regulation application, it is the same thing.  There are all kinds of incentives built into this company's proposal, which you heard some about this morning, and if they don't -– if they don't -- if they're incented to do what they're forecasting over a very long time frame or their shareholder will be badly hurt.

So that is my concern.  We propose that it should be worded simply as "are any modifications to the custom application required to make it compatible with the planning requirements and rate-setting methods described in the RRFE report".

You are the master of your own procedure, and I am going to leave it at that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rogers, how would you separate what you're suggesting as an amendment to what is bolded here, I take it, that you're suggesting that are modifications required, as opposed to, is it consistent.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  We would propose that -- we -- my client had drafted this originally -- was, starting with, are any modifications to the custom application required.  In other words, that second sentence is just sufficient to meet the concerns --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Sorry.

MR. ROGERS:  -- without threatening this whole case.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And taking that as it was originally drafted, when would the modifications occur, and what your client's envisioned here by asking that, because could it not as well be taken as a threshold issue that would suggest that, okay, let's take a look at that first, and then have the modifications made, and then we will hear the application?  Is after the fact -- if we talk about -- if the Board were to make findings on what modifications should have occurred, isn't that just a -- we will be hearing arguments on the consistency, and then the Board does what it should do with it, modifications might occur next time around, or things would be not allowed.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, sir, what I think my client has in mind and what I -- what I have in mind is that we will go through this hearing, and intervenors and Board Staff and so on will have perhaps concerns with certain elements that don't comply entirely or to their satisfaction with the regulatory framework report, and that the Board in its decision would pinpoint areas where it felt that the compliance could be improved upon, and it would be in your final order that Hydro, of course, would do what you ordered.

MS. HARE:  But if I may, do you think you need any of 1.1?

MR. ROGERS:  Well, no, but my client says that they would be happy to see it all gone.  But in candour, I have to say I can understand why people are interested in modifications which might be made to it.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I think the -- obviously, we will hear other submissions on this, but with that in mind I think we want to have something that everyone is on a good understanding of what the mechanics of the hearing of the case is and the timing of it and when we would ask ourselves these questions, because I don't think it is clear just even from the proposed -- the originally proposed or what was distributed on the 7th that are modifications.  Modifications, in my mind, mean something that has to happen before you do something.  It is not a post or an ex post examination, or it could be read that way, anyway.

So I think to the extent that we are clear on what we're going to be assessing and when we assess it, so if others, as they're commenting on that, that is something the Board would be looking for, is a clarity in both what is being assessed and when it is assessed and what is appropriate for that.

MR. ROGERS:  I hope I have answered your question from the applicant's standpoint.  We see this consideration -- that's what the hearing is about, in our view, and it will end when you issue your report as to what modifications, if any, you think are appropriate.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  Okay.

I would suggest that perhaps we do these one-off, and we have heard from the applicant on submissions on the highlighted area of 1.1, and if we could hear from others, and Ms. Lea, I don't know where the Board Staff could go next on that, and then others will have the benefit of hearing Board Staff's thinking on this as they respond.

MS. LEA:  I think the questions that you have asked is a good one.  The questions that you have asked is a good one, and it is a difficult question to answer.

From Board Staff's perspective, we had not contemplated entering into an enquiry at the beginning of this case and saying, Board, we need you to decide if this is sufficiently consistent to go forward with.  We had not contemplated having that question asked at the beginning of the case.

Board Staff, I think, is of the view that we would proceed with the hearing of the case, and modifications might be:  We believe that you need to set a different target for that outcome, and here's the way we think you need to measure it, which is a different way than the way you propose to measure it, as opposed to, the case as a whole must be rejected before it is heard.  I think that that was where we are coming from, Board Staff.

There is a number of reasons for that.  The first is, this is the first custom electricity -- custom IR electricity application, custom cost of service, electricity application, and while we think that there may be things that could be improved about this application, it will not be Board Staff's position that at the outset it should be rejected for a lack of consistency with the report.

And so that's where we're coming from on this.  We believe that there might be, when we talk about modifications, different ways to measure things, data being collected in a certain way, different outcomes.  Maybe the outcomes weren't properly chosen, maybe they should be different, that kind of thing, as opposed to an outright rejection of the application as a whole.

Just let me consult with my colleagues for a moment.

[Ms. Lea consults with colleagues]


MS. LEA:  Yes, that is where we're coming from.  It is not an attempt -- Board Staff, I think, would also be satisfied with the removal of the first sentence, not because we don't think it is appropriate, but because we think we can get what we were going to argue about through the modifications part; that is, the -- are any modifications required.  And I think I have given you a set of the sort of examples we are thinking of.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  So then my question is, are the modifications then not covered by other of the issues?  Like, is that really a standalone issue then?  Or is it subsumed as we go through the issues list?

MS. LEA:  As I said at the beginning of my submissions that introduced this adjusted list, Hydro One said from the get-go with the original list that it filed and the list it filed on May the 7th that all questions that Board Staff had raised in the technical conferences could be answered within the list that they had given us, and they were not going to object to us asking questions about the compatibility of the application with the RRFE, what modifications need to be made.

So I think from the start it was the applicant's position that those questions were appropriate for this case and no specific issue needed to be brought forward.

The reason why the intervenors -- well, Board Staff, let's say -- this was proposed originally by an intervenor, but we support it -- is because it brings into highlight, it makes important and makes explicit a sort of -- a type of enquiry which we believe is actually important to this case, particularly as it is the first custom application that you have heard.

So although it would be, I think, true to say that we can ask our questions without this issue being on the list, we support its inclusion because it does explicitly recognize that this is something that we would like to ask the Board to consider.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you, Ms. Lea.

Mr. Garner, I see you going for your mic.
Submissions by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

First of all, we would agree with the submissions of Board Staff, with one exception.  We would not want to see the question removed.  And the reason for that is, I think, implicit in the question that was asked by the member, Ms. Hare.

We believe the question is important for the Board to answer.  Hydro One has explicitly used the term "a custom cost-of-service application", not "a custom IR application", and not one of the other two methods that have been laid out in the RRFE.

And we believe there is a clear difference between what is in the RRFE and what is in this application.  And it touches on the issues of benchmarking and the form and type of incentives that should be included in the ratemaking scheme.

We also believe and argue that it is not a threshold issue.  We agree with Hydro One on that.  Where we disagree with Hydro One is, it is a seminal issue.  And we are not proposing that the Board not hear the application, though the Board might ultimately decline to prove the application in its current form, and we are less worried about that, obviously, than Hydro One if we disagree with the application.

If the Board finds the application is deficient in its application of Board policy, in our mind this could make a difference to the arguments you will entertain on how the rates will be set, how long they should be set for, and how the company should be monitored during the rate period.

Explicitly deciding where and why it is not consistent with the RRFE also informs us as to what the company might need to do in the future or not need to do in the future to have these types of policies apply to it.

So in our mind, deciding on the issues in respect to the reasonableness of what is really a five-year cost-of-service application is not the same as deciding on the issues of an incentive rate application.  And that's why we think that it is important that we explicitly identify the issue, ask the question as to whether there are deficiencies in this application in meeting the Board's expectations under the RRFE policy.

Those are our submissions.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.  Mr. Garner, how would you see this issue 1.1 in guiding you in discovery?

MR. GARNER:  I think it really lets us explicitly ask questions as to what parts of the policy that Hydro One felt it could not meet.

I think if you look at the issues list right now, you will see another issue that will come up shortly will be benchmarking.  And that issue is explicitly identified in the RRFE.

Now, you can ask questions within the application about benchmarking what they should do, but what we also want to understand is:  What is it about benchmarking that you can't do for a RRFE policy?  Why can't you have an incentive system with benchmarking?  Are you never going to meet that policy?  Those type of questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Dr. Higgin?
Submissions by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

We would support Board Staff's submission, but we would also feel that keeping the issue in –- and maybe modify the wording, too -- is still valid, because I go back to the last slide on the presentation this morning.

And I look at the question and it is a framework issue; it is a purely framework issue.  This application takes from the RRFE elements of different -- of the three methods, and puts them together in this new framework.

For example, annual adjustments for recurring events, such as off-ramps, et cetera.  And then the outcome measures.

So those are elements, but they are put into this new framework.

And so this is a custom cost of service application, and therefore, my view is that it has to be looked at in that perspective.  And so I would support what's been said, that we have to basically be able to look at that framework and ask those questions that -- in the proposal.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

DR. HIGGIN:  That's all I would say.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

Any other submissions on this particular item, 1.1?

MR. DeROSE:  Mr. Chair, it's Vince DeRose here, if I may.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, Mr. DeRose.
Submissions by Mr. DeRose:


MR. DeROSE:  And first of all, if I could just address one item that Hydro One indicated, that the Board had already effectively recognized or authorized a five-year cost of service application by accepting the filing of application, issuing a notice of application, procedural orders, and having the initial technical conferences.

I think it is important to put it on the record that ultimately, Board Panel Members, you know what was in your mind, but we would question whether the acceptance of an application and allowing for people to ask questions about it is tantamount to accepting that the proposed approach is consistent with the RRFE, or is otherwise acceptable.

So our approach to issue 1.1 and why we believe it is an important issue is this.  The RRFE, much time and effort was put into it, and it identified three incentive ratemaking methods, and it set up -- there was a lot of consideration in terms of the protections and the incentives that would go into it, to ensure that it was appropriate.

If this Panel finds that Hydro One's five-year cost of service application is not consistent with the RRFE, we aren't looking for the dire consequence that Mr. Rogers suggested, that it is just simply no and it is rejected.

But we do think if it is inconsistent with the RRFE, that there is a certain additional burden both put on Hydro One and I think on all parties in the application and on the Board Panel.  It is incumbent upon all of us to really question whether the protections that are assumed in the RRFE necessarily apply to Hydro One, and if not, what protections, additional protections, would be required?

So to put it another way, the ratepayer protection measures that are appropriate for incentive regulation may be different than the ratepayer protection measures that are required for a five-year annual cost of service ratemaking approach.

And to the extent that the application is inconsistent with the RRFE, it does raise the question of whether, A:  Is a five-year cost of service application appropriate?  Should it be something shorter?  Should it be a year, should it be two years?

Secondly, if it is inconsistent with it, are there ratemaking -- or ratepayer protections, outside of what was considered in the RRFE, which this Panel should consider?

And so we believe that the extent to which it is consistent with the RRFE is appropriate.  It is relevant.  And in terms of issue 2.6 and 3.3, which you will hear about shortly, I mean, that comes down to benchmarking, which I think is a perfect example of an area where it was recognized as important by the Board in the RRFE report, but Hydro One has -- I think quite openly -- said:  It is not appropriate for us because it is extremely difficult, if not impossible to undertake.

So those would be our submissions as to why we believe that issue 1.1 as framed is something this Panel should consider leaving in, and we believe it would benefit the Panel in its overall assessment.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  I take it from your comments –- and I will just make sure you're -- I took them as you are not suggesting that we would in any way use 1.1 as a threshold issue.  And I am hearing your connection between 1.1 and the now currently drafted 1.4, and looking for other ratepayer protection measures, as they are somewhat connected, in your submission, is what I understood.  That we would have to, by necessity, hear submissions on the appropriateness of those two together, and therefore it is something that we would assess at the end of the hearing; is that right?

MR. DeROSE:  Yes.  I think that's fair.

Put another way, if this was a custom IR application in the way that the RRFE contemplated it, we wouldn't be having this issue, but it's not.  And so I anticipate that there will be many IRs and there will be a large portion of the hearing, if it is not settled, dealing with the extent to which the protections in the RRFE do or do not apply to Hydro One.  Benchmarking is a perfect example.

And to the extent that they don't, what are other protections which the Board should consider?

And I guess the big question is:  Can there be enough protections put around a five-year cost of service ratemaking approach such that the Board is comfortable approving five-year cost of service.  I mean, ultimately that will be the question.  So...

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  That is very helpful.  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  And, Madam Chair, or -- Mr. Chair, I have no further submissions on the other issues.

You have heard my comment on benchmarking.  I consider it to be one in the same with 1.1.  So with your permission, I actually do have to step away.

MS. HARE:  Can I just ask you a quick question, because you used the words that you don't see this as a "threshold issue," but it is a "seminal issue."

Can you explain to us, so that it's on the record, what is the difference?

MR. DeROSE:  I actually believe that that was Mr. Garner who used the term "seminal."

MS. HARE:  Oh, then I will have to ask him.

MR. DeROSE:  So I am going to dodge that one.

[Laughter]

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.

Mr. Garner?

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.

MR. GARNER:  I'm sorry, what was the question?

MS. HARE:  Well, you said it is not a threshold issue, but it is a seminal issue.

And so I would like it explained on the record -- really because I don't understand –-

MR. GANER:  Well, I was being –

MS. HARE:  -- what is the difference.
Further Submissions by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  I'm sorry.  I was being poetic, because I was taking issue with the submission of Hydro One, who was saying that that this is a threshold or these are -- shouldn't be a threshold or a seminal issue.

I mean, it is a seminal issue, in my view, in the fact that the Board has set out a policy.  Parties are suggesting to you that this company has not followed that policy.

That seems to me to be quite germane to answer the question:  Why?  Why did you not do that?

And that is what I mean by "seminal."

It is not threshold, because as the other parties are arguing, we are not suggesting the Board not hear the application and reject it out of hand.  We are suggesting the Board hear the application.  And it may be modified as suggested by the latter part of that question, or it may be rejected in whole.  I mean, that is really in the Board's hands.

I know that that is not an outcome that Hydro One believes would be right, but it is possible, you know, it is possible to happen if the Board finds in answering the question, why did you not meet all of the requirements of the policies we set out, it finds that the application is that deficient.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Garner.

Mr. Rogers?
Further Submissions by Mr. Rogers:


MR. ROGERS:  I have nothing really to add, sir, except to say that sometimes when things get repeated over and over again it becomes accepted wisdom.  This application does conform with your report, in our submission.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We do expect to see the response to the IRs through discovery and argument on that, and I think that ultimately what I am hearing from the parties -- and obviously we're going to take this away.  We won't see anything this afternoon on this, even though we have just got a few issues.  I take it we will have some general discussion over the evening as to how we respond to this, but we're getting the sense that from the parties that are in favour of having this highlighted section added in that we would be -- it would be useful to them through discovery and in argument, primarily, and it is not a threshold question that anyone is seeking to use this as -- and that is how the Board would view that.  Okay?  Great.  Thank you.
We will move on to 2.6, in the area -- sorry, Mr. --


DR. ELSAYED:  I would just make a comment.  I guess for the balance of this, like, it seems just to confirm what I heard, is that I didn't hear anybody objecting to having 1.1 there without the first sentence.

So I guess, without having to get into -- behind every one of those, it would probably be helpful if we focus on the disputed issues and come to an understanding without getting into the details behind it, to make use of the available time.

MR. ROGERS:  Sure.  I think the next point of contention is 1.6 -- oh, no, 2.6, sorry.

MR. QUESNELLE:  2.6, yes.

MR. ROGERS:  I think --


MS. LEA:  And 3.3.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, 3.3, they're the same basic issue.

I don't know who should start, Ms. Lea.  Hydro One's -- let me explain my client's position on these points.  This has to do with the benchmarking.  And I -- we're all conscious of the fact that the Board's report did talk about benchmarking as a component of the applications.

The concern that my client has is that it's been explored many times before, before this Board, as to how you benchmark Hydro One.  It is a unique company.  And it is very difficult to find benchmarking that is appropriate for all of these classifications.

So we wanted to add in the words, is it appropriate to benchmark Hydro One's forecasts?  Rather than assuming that, yes, it is appropriate and Hydro One should have done it and hasn't done it.  Hydro One hasn't done it in all cases, and the evidence is going to be that it is not possible.  So that is the purpose for adding that sentence, that's all.

And the same comment really applies to -- well, 3.3, we wanted to take out the words "by benchmarking".

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Understood.

MR. ROGERS:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Lea?
Further Submissions by Ms. Lea:


MS. LEA:  Thank you.

Once again, this is -- I think, for Board Staff's purposes, this is a question of how explicit do we need to be.  And I understand Mr. Rogers' objections to the use of the word, but I don't think that this will make much difference whether the word is included on the issues list or not as to whether his client is going to be asked about it.

At page 13 of the RRFE report, under the annual adjustment mechanism and the role of benchmarking under custom IR, it says "the distributor specific rate trend for the planned term to be determined by", and there's three things, and the third one is "benchmarking to assess the reasonableness of the distributor's forecasts".  It is there.

Consequently, Board Staff agrees that, if you look at 2.6, the first sentence, "are Hydro One's forecasts", and then the items in brackets, "reasonable".  Just that alone would be enough to allow us to ask questions, in our view, about benchmarking.  I think my friend is concerned about having anything that suggests that benchmarking had to have occurred.

In 3.3, again, "have these proposals been adequately supported", those words are sufficiently inclusive for us to ask questions about benchmarking.  Should it have been done?  Could it have been done?

MR. ROGERS:  Can I just interrupt there?

MS. LEA:  Yes, yeah, sorry.

MR. ROGERS:  Maybe I can shorten this.

MS. LEA:  Yeah.

MR. ROGERS:  I don't think my client will object to questions about benchmarking --


MS. LEA:  No.

MR. ROGERS:  That is not the point.  We just felt that the way the questions were worded in the issues list, it made it -- it was sort of a precondition that benchmarking is required and Hydro One didn't do it.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  So --


MR. ROGERS:  So we will not be objecting to interrogatories or to questioning about benchmarking and the appropriateness of benchmarking.

MS. LEA:  Yeah, I accept that, and the reason the word appears on this issues list from Board Staff's perspective is again a question of explicitly drawing attention to a requirement of the RRFE.  We accept and we appreciate that Hydro One will let us ask these questions.  At the same time, given that it appears to be an important element of the RRFE, including the word on the list in our submission, is helpful to direct the enquiries in these issues.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Ms. Lea, could I ask you to respond to Mr. Rogers' stated concern then?  In the second half of 3.3 --


MS. LEA:  3.3, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- we have "and have those proposals been adequately supported by benchmarking".  By having "benchmarking" in there, are there other ways that they could adequately be supported, drops off?  Like, it is not an -- including benchmarking, or it's kind of by the way that it is -- if you leave benchmarking in there, that looks like it is a question about benchmarking only, as opposed to, has it been adequately supported.

MS. LEA:  I understand that position.  And what one could do if one wanted to continue to include the word "benchmarking" but not make it the only way that these proposals could be supported could say, "for example, by benchmarking".

We could also -- I mean, staff can ask its questions, as Mr. Rogers has pointed out, without including those words "by benchmarking" at all.  We can find out what we need to using this issues list without those questions in -- without those two words in.  We're suggesting that the word "benchmarking "appear to make it explicit, that this is part of the consideration of the support to be brought forward for those proposals.

So it could be solved by, for example -- I don't know whether Mr. Rogers would accept that, but again, there is benchmarking, but it could also be just "have these proposals been adequately supported", and staff believes we can ask our questions as such.

So again, it is not like we think we're being restricted in our questions, so much as we believe that it is important to have explicit on the issues list elements of the RRFE that we felt were absent.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  I will just follow the same order, perhaps.  Mr. Garner, if you have any submissions on this.

MR. GARNER:  I think we take the position that was articulated earlier by Mr. DeRose.  The first 1.1 issue really subsumes this issue about benchmarking, and to the extent that issue survives we are less concerned about whether this issue reappears in this form on the issues list.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.

Mr. Higgin?
Further Submissions by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  We would support Board Staff's proposal.  Just to note, of the things that are listed, productivity is one, and is a matter that you should look at historic, as well as future productivity, for example.

So that is it.  Whether benchmarking is used or not we would say is less material.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

Okay.  Who else do we have?  Any other submissions on this particular item?  Okay.  Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  I just have one more comment, and this is a fairly small point, I think.  4.1, we don't understand -- we have talked a little bit about the question.  We don't really understand what the issue is, and particularly the issue about Hydro One disclosing the business planning process and how they allocate between distribution and transmission.  I mean, they make full disclosure, so I don't know why it is an issue.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Well, that's a problem.

Ms. Lea?

MS. LEA:  Sir, I am not sure I can provide a lot of help with this one.  I think that perhaps my friends can address it better.  As I understand, the disputed word is really the "disclose", and as I understand it, it was an attempt to make sure that the planning processes and the way those were allocated and the policies were used was transparent.

So unfortunately, I don't think I can provide you with much assistance on this one.  Perhaps my friends can do so?

MR. ROGERS:  Just before -– there's one other thing I should say.  I mean, we have been through this.

Hydro One goes through its business planning process and shows you how they allocate costs between transmission and distribution.  It has been examined in great detail in many hearings, and I just question whether we have to do it again.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So I take it the promoter of this particular element is not in the room?  Okay.  Thank you.

We don't have a good understanding of it.  It is unfortunate, because we actually had some conversations ourselves as to what this could possibly mean.  So we will have to take a look at that.  And we may -- you know, just the fact we're going to go through discovery, if people ask questions and there's any objections to them, we can deal with those matters as they arise, so...

But that will -- that's just a safety net that we would rather not have to use, but that is one that's available to us.

DR. ELSAYED:  Just one question.

I take it that the company's view on benchmarking is that it would be a good tool to use where appropriate, and what you are objecting to is maybe forcing the issue of benchmarking as a general tool.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  I think that is fair to say.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Well, with that, we will adjourn.

We recognize that the faster we can get this out, the faster we will get more process identified.  And I think -- is there anything else that we can take advantage of this afternoon, Ms. Lea, to discuss or put on the record to have people think about?  I am at a loss right now.

MS. LEA:  I did have a number of folk send e-mails and submissions to us.

With respect to the City of Hamilton, I believe that matter has been dealt with by agreement from the company.

Julie Girvan for the Consumers Coalition [sic] said that the issues list was adequate for her purposes.

We did get an e-mail from Mr. Ted Cowan, who was dealing with line loss issues.  I won't read the entire e-mail to you, but I will forward it to you for your consideration.  And I wonder whether the applicant can help me.  The e-mail begins:

"In general, the Ontario Federation of Agriculture accepts the issues list but ask for assurances that the following more specific concerns are covered by the issues list and that these topics will be open for discussion during the hearing."

I don't know whether the applicant has had an opportunity to look at these.  They relate to line losses, differentials between -- within and between classes.

Just reading these, I would have thought that they were included, that he can ask his questions, but perhaps we need to know if that is not the case.

MR. ROGERS:  Would the Board permit Ms. Frank to answer this question?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MS. FRANK:  This is an issue that we have heard several times from Mr. Cowan, so we're not surprised by his concerns.  Actually, the company suggested that we add question 3.4, and it's:
"Is the company's effort to reduce line losses appropriate?"

And that -- we tried to frame that as a relatively broad question.  It was the company who thought that having that in would deal with a lot of the concerns that Mr. Cowan had around the amount of effort and what has happened in the past, and what our expectations are for the future.

And I think between that question and the other one, which is 2.8:

"Should the application provide appropriate incentives for line losses?"

I think that the concerns that Mr. Cowan has will have a home.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MS. LEA:  And the last three items on his list that talk about rate classes, rate class definitions and so on, I would presume would be subsumed under the issues that are listed under part 7?

MS. FRANK:  Yes.  I think they would.

At times, he drifts into items that I think the Board is considering when they're doing their rate design issue, that some of these items, I think, will be a part of that proceeding.  And so there is a bit of a question:  Should -- he talks about coincident peaks as one of the things that might be considered, and I know the Board's rate design looks at that as a possibility.

I am not certain all of these should be in this proceeding, because I think there is a more generic proceeding that might be a better home.

So a portion of his question, No. 3, about an alternative method being used for assessing line losses and coincident peaks being a possibility, something I think might be better in the generic.

Then the other one is Question No. 6, where he's looking at fixed revenues and impact upon rates of return.  Once again, I think that is more -- because the fixed revenues is an option under the Board's rate design, if there is going to be any impact upon a rate of return from fixed revenues, I think that would be a better home, again.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I would expect that that may be your response to an IR along that line and we could deal with that if there was an issue.

MS. FRANK:  Right, right.
Submissions by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, just on that point, on the question of whether some of these -- the line loss treatment issue –- or rather the fixed-variable charge may be better dealt with in another proceeding.

I think Ms. Frank is thinking of the decoupling processes underway.

MS. FRANK:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  I would just caution the Board.  We're in this proceeding in large measure because Hydro One is proposing to move in the direction of increasing its fixed charge right now in a particular fashion, and you will hear our position later, which is that it is premature.  They should do it through the decoupling process, where the Board has the benefit of considering a range of alternatives and we don't make a misstep here and so on.

I won't argue my case, but I just would caution if the Board is considering bumping Mr. Cowan's issue because it might be better dealt with there, the Board needs to recognize that it is, in fact, an issue nevertheless here, by Hydro One's choosing.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, that is why I was providing the advice that we would expect a response to an IR would be something that the parties can deal with if they're not satisfied with the answer.

MR. POCH:  Thank you, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

DR. ELSAYED:  Ms. Lea, you said the issue raised by the city of Hamilton has been dealt with?

MS. LEA:  Yes.  That was to do with --


DR. ELSAYED:  How is that?

MS. LEA:  -- street lighting.  Am I right, sir?

MR. KOVACEVIC:  Yes.  Mr. Chair, through -- the issue has been added to the issues list as we requested, so we are satisfied.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I take it that is 7.6:

"Are Hydro One's proposed charges for street lighting appropriate?"

MS. LEA:  Correct.  Correct.

MR. KOVACEVIC:  Yes, Mr. Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Well, with that, thank you very much.  And I think it was a very worthwhile working lunch.  Thank you very much.

We will, again, get this out as soon as we can and establish as much further process as we feel is appropriate at this time.  Okay?  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned as 4:47 p.m.
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